
SECURITIES LAW*
By JAMES J. MOYLAN** and EDWARD D. HERLIHY***

Since this is the first time that the Fifth Circuit's federal securities law
decisions will be treated in the survey, a brief introduction is in order.'

The Securities Act of 1933' was part and parcel of the New Deal legisla-
tion enacted during Franklin D. Roosevelt's administration. Its genesis was
the 1929 economic debacle and its purpose was:

To provide full and fair disclosure of the character of securities sold in
interstate and foreign commerce and through the mails, and to prevent
frauds in the sale thereof, and for other purposes.'

The Securities Act was administered by the Federal Trade Commission
until the creation of the Securities and Exchange Commission' by the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934.1 While the Securities Act is designed to
protect the investor through the medium of full and fair disclosure in the
offer and sale of securities, the Exchange Act is more regulatory in nature.
The Exchange Act is designed to regulate certain corporate activity, the
securities markets, and those people and entities comprising the securities
industry. In addition, it provides for continuous disclosure of material
corporate information so that investors can make informed investment
decisions on whether to sell, hold, or buy securities in the market place.'

In addition to the above, the SEC administers the Public Utility Holding
Company Act of 1935,1 Trust Indenture Act of 1939,8 Investment Company
Act of 194(0 and the Investment Advisers Act of 1940.10

In the survey period, the Fifth Circuit's decisions were rendered only

* The Securities and Exchange Commission, as a matter of policy, disclaims responsibil-

ity for any private publication by any of its members or employees. The views expressed
herein are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of the Commission or
its staff.

** Trial Attorney, Division of Enforcement, U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission,
Washington, D.C.; University of Denver (B.S.B.A., 1969; J.D., 1971).

*** Trial Attorney, Division of Enforcement, U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission,
Washington, D.C.; Hobart College (B.A., 1969); George Washington University National Law
Center (J.D., 1972).

1. See generally Symposium, Three Years of the Securities Act, 4 LAW & CONTEMP. PROB.
3 (1937), for a good history of this subject.

2. 15 U.S.C. §77(a) et seq. (1970) [hereinafter referred to as Securities Act or 1933 Act].
3. Preamble of the Securities Act, 48 Stat. 74 (1933).
4. Hereinafter referred to as SEC or Commission.
5. 15 U.S.C. §78a et seq. (1970) [hereinafter referred to as Exchange Act or 1934 Act].
6. See Hanna, The Securities Exchange Act as Supplementary of the Securities Act, 4

LAW & CowrmMp. PROB. 256, 257 (1937).
7. 15 U.S.C. §79 et seq. (1970).
8. 15 U.S.C. §77aaa et seq. (1970).
9. 15 U.S.C. §80a-1 et seq. (1970).
10. 15 U.S.C. §80b-1 et seq. (1970).
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MERCER LAW REVIEW

under the Securities Act and the Exchange Act. This article will discuss
only those civil decisions" which made a significant contribution to the
development and interpretation of the various substantive provisions of
these acts. Thereafter, the remaining securities law opinions will be ab-
stracted for the benefit of the practitioner.

I. SECUrITIEs Acr OF 1933

A. Pyramid Schemes

1. SEC v. Koscot Interplanetary, Inc."2

Fraudulent securities schemes are cyclical in nature and seem to change
as often as clothing fashion and embrace many variations. 3 Oil and gas
exploration ventures," computer frauds,"5 "ponzi schemes"'" and "boiler
room" brokerage operations 7 exemplify the diverse nature of such activity.

11. The Fifth Circuit's opinions relating to criminal cases in the securities law area do
not involve the substantive aspects of the statutes. Rather, the court's holdings are grounded
on procedural or evidentiary issues and inapposite to this discussion. See, e.g., United States
v. Prince, 496 F.2d 1289 (5th Cir. 1974). The appellants did not deny that there was a scheme
to defraud investors in the offer and sale of securities. Instead, they unsuccessfully attack
their convictions on the application of the co-conspirator exception to the hearsay rule.

12. 497 F. 2d 473 (5th Cir. 1974), rev'g, 365 F. Supp. 588 (N.D. Ga. 1973), aft'g, 352 F.
Supp. 454 (N.D. Tex. 1973), cert. denied, - U.S. - 95 S.Ct. 1132 (1975).

13. In SEC v. C.M. Joiner Leasing Corp., 320 U.S. 344 (1943), the Supreme Court indi-
cated that the reach of the Securities Act extended beyond the obvious and commonplace
by stating:

Novel, uncommon, or irregular devices, whatever they appear to be, are also
reached if it be proved as matter of fact that they were widely offered or dealt in
under terms or courses of dealing which established their character in commerce
as "investment contracts," or as "any interest or instrument commonly known as
a 'security.'" Id. at 351.

14. SEC v. Coastal States Gas Corp., Civil No. 73-H-1262 (S.D. Tex. Sept. 12, 1973), SEC
Lit. Rel. No. 6054 (Sept. 12, 1973); SEC v. Geotek Resources Fund, Inc., Civil No. C-730819
(N.D. Cal. May 17, 1973), SEC Lit. Rel. No. 5899 (May 17, 1973).

15. SEC v. Equity Funding Corp. of America, [1972-73 Transfer Binder] CCH FED. Sac.
L. REP. 1 93,917 (C.D. Cal. April 3, 1973).

16. The term "ponzi scheme" is derived from a swindle technique made famous by an
Italian immigrant named Charles Ponzi during the 1920's. Ponzi parlayed the get-rich-quick
dreams of about 40,000 small investors into a paper empire worth millions of dollars by
promising fifty per cent interest on their money within 45 days of their investment. For its
continued success the Ponzi operation requires the continuous recruitment of new investors
with their money being used to pay off old investors at the promised rate of return. For
background, see Cunningham, Trustee of Ponzi v. Brown 265 U.S. 1 (1923); for a recent
"ponzi scheme" see United States v. Robert Dale Johnson, Crim. No. 216-74-A (E.D. Va.
October 23, 1974), SEC Lit. Rel. No. 6536 (October 23, 1974).

17. "Boiler room" activity consists of selling securities of issuers in large volume by means
of an intensive sales campaign by telephone or mail, regardless of the suitability of the
securities to the customer. The scheme is designed to induce a hasty decision to purchase
the security by making misrepresentations and omitting to disclose material facts about the
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In the past year, the Fifth Circuit in Koscot addressed the issue of whether
a multi-level distributorship or pyramid enterprise constituted a security
within the meaning of the federal securities laws."8

The multi-level distributorship or pyramid enterprise that is the subject
of the Koscot decision, has been a major commercial development in recent
years and its use is widespread." Typically a pyramid scheme involves an
arrangement whereby an individual obtains a right to participate in a
multi-level plan of product distribution accompanied by the right to sell
distributorships to others and to share in the proceeds of such sales. A
vastly higher monetary return is achieved by the sales of the distributor-
ships in contrast to the sale of the retail product. Accordingly, the key to
success of the individual participant depends fundamentally upon the
ability to attract increasing numbers of investors to purchase distributor-
ships.

The purchase of the right to sell the same right to another buyer creates
an endless chain, which ultimately reaches a stage when the market for the
distributorship becomes saturated. 0 Characteristically, misleading and
deceptive sales recruitment practices are utilized." The promoters use
high-pressure sales techniques in "opportunity meetings" to foster the
impression of the near inevitability of success to be achieved by anyone
who purchases a distributorship.

In Koscot, the Fifth Circuit reversed a decision of the United States
District Court for the Northern District of Georgia" and held that the

security. See generally Jacobs, The Impact of Securities Exchange Act Rule 10b-5 on Broker-
Dealers, 57 CORNELL L. REv. 869, 926-29. See also SEC v. R. J. Allen & Associates, Civil No.
74-1273 (S.D. Fla. Oct. 1, 1974) regarding use of boiler room activity to fraudulently sell bonds
to returning prisoners of war.

18. The existence of pyramid schemes substantially predates the federal securities laws.
See, e.g., Twentieth Century Co. v. Quilling, 130 Wis. 318, 110 N.W. 174 (1907).

19. By 1972 the SEC indicated that there were over 150 pyramid enterprises operating in
various states with a total investment of approximately $300 million. 38 SEC Ann. Rep. 18
(1972). See also Address by William J. Casey, Chairman Securities and Exchange Commis-
sion, at the North American Securities Administrator's Association Conference, BNA SEc.
REG. L. REP. No. 16 at A-4 (Sept. 11, 1972).

20. See S. Comm. on Commerce Report on S. 1939, Pyramid Sales Act, S. REP. No. 93-
1114, 93rd Cong., 2d. Sess. (1974). Within a short time the number of people involved would
exceed the population of the United States. Id. at 3. See also Pyramid Sales Participants:
Victims or Perpetrators, 47 Twmp. L.Q. 697 (1974).

21. See SEC v. Glenn W. Turner Enterprises, Inc., 474 F. 2d 476 (9th Cir.), cert. denied,
414 U.S. 821 (1973), af'g, 348 F. Supp. 766 (D. Ore. 1972), wherein the court found that at
the sales meetings there was exuberant shouting, chanting, handshaking, relating success
stories and lavish displays of cash. Id. at 479. The court went on to state:

The format of the meeting is preordained. A script created by Dare is strictly
adhered to. The format applies even to the sale, there being a standard procedure
for inducing the prospect to sign his name to the agreement and to part with his
money. Id. at 479.

See also SEC v. Holiday Magic Inc. [1972-73 Transfer Binder] CCH FED. SEC. L. RE.
94,077 (N.D. Cal. June 28, 1973).

22. 365 F. Supp. 588. Koscot is a subsidiary of Glenn W. Turner Enterprises.
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Koscot pyramid promotion scheme was an "investment contract" and thus
constituted a securityn for the purposes of the federal securities laws. In
so holding, the court based its decision upon the standard enunciated by
the Supreme Court in SEC v. W J. Howey Co.,2 which defined an invest-
ment contract as a scheme in which "a person invests his money in a
common enterprise and is led to expect profits solely from the efforts of
the promoter or a third party .... "1

In applying the Howey test the court acknowledged that the marketing
of cosmetics and the recruitment. of individuals were separate and distinct
facets of Koscot's operations. It concluded that only the recruitment aspect
could be embraced within the definition of a security."

The court found that the first two elements under the Howey case were
met. Purchasers of distributorships invested money in the plan, thereby
satisfying the investment criterion." The determination that the Koscot
scheme functions as a common enterprise, the second element of the
Howey test, was found by the court since the fortunes of the investors "are
inextricably tied to the efficacy of the Koscot meetings and guidelines on
recruiting prospects and consummating a sale."' The court noted that
merely because the investors' return may be independent of other investors
is not decisive. The expectation of profits by the investor are necessarily
interwoven and dependent upon the efforts and success of those seeking
investment by third parties.

In discussing the third element of the Howey formula, that profits must
come "solely from the efforts of others," the Fifth Circuit rejected a literal
interpretation of Howey for a more resilient approach. The court refused
to be bound by a strict reading of the term "solely". Instead, it recognized
the economic realities of the transaction and the need for investor protec-
tion in this area." Consistent with the remedial purposes of the federal

23. See 15 U.S.C. §77(b)(1) (1970), which provides:
The term "security" means any note, stock, treasury stock, bond, debenture,

evidence of indebtedness, certificate of interest or participation in any profit-
sharing agreement, collateral-trust certificate, preorganization certificate or sub-
scription, transferable share, investment contract, voting-trust certificate, certifi-
cate of deposit for a security, fractional undivided interest in oil, gas, or other
mineral rights, or, in general, any interest or instrument commonly known as a
"security", or any certificate of interest or participation in, temporary or interim
certificate for, receipt for, guarantee of, or warrant or right to subscribe to or
purchase, any of the foregoing.

24. 328 U.S. 293 (1946).
25. Id. at 299.
26. 497 F.2d at 476.
27. Id. at 478.
28. Id. at 479.
29. In supporting its conclusion that the Howey test is to be broadly construed, the court

noted that the United States Supreme Court and three circuit courts in several instances have
relied not on Howey to find the existence of a security but on the test enunciated in SEC v.
C. M. Joiner Leasing Corp., 320 U.S. 344 (1943) which is
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securities laws8° the court held that a "scheme is no less an investment
contract merely because [the investor] contributes some effort as well as
money to get into it."''3

In reaching its holding the court relied on the test employed in a recent
Ninth Circuit case 3 involving another Glenn Turner subsidiary, which
looked to "whether the efforts made by those other than the investor are
the undeniably significant ones,"" in finding a security within the meaning
of the federal securities laws. In applying this standard to the Koscot case
the court found that the investors' efforts were nominal, ministerial and
"little more than . . .perfunctory. . . ."3 The crucial factor was recog-
nized to be the "luring effect"" of the opportunity meetings to the success
of the scheme.

The promoters' efforts to induce others to invest was the undeniably
significant factor in the scheme's ultimate success. The investor was vir-
tually "powerless" and had to rely upon the managerial conduct of the
enterprise for any return on his investment. The court recognized that a
rigid test, ignoring reality, would be impractical if the existence of a secu-
rity could be denied merely because an investor contributed a modicum
of effort. If such an interpretation were permitted, the Congressional objec-
tive of investor protection could readily be thwarted.

It should be noted that in concluding, the court indicated that it was
confining its holding to the passive investment situation where the inves-
tor's realization of profits is "inextricably tied" to the success of the promo-
tional scheme. Moreover, the court stated that the holding would not ex-
tend to conventional franchise efforts where the individual franchise opera-
tor independently determines his own success or failure largely "unfettered
by promoter mandates. 36

As the Koscot situation illustrates, it is hardly more difficult for the
unscrupulous to persuade the unwary to contribute some efforts to a com-
mon enterprise than it is to persuade investors to contribute money alone.

what character the instrument is given in commerce by the terms of the offer, the
plan of distribution, and the economic inducements held out by the prospect. Id.
at 353.

30. See Superintendent of Ins. v. Bankers Life & Cas. Co., 404 U.S. 6 (1971); Tcherepnin
v. Knight, 389 U.S. 332 (1967); SEC v. Capital Gains Research Bureau Inc., 375 U.S. 180
(1963).

31. 497 F.2d 473, 485. See also Blackwell v. Bentsen, 203 F.2d 690 (5th Cir.), cert. denied,
347 U.S. 925 (1954).

32. 474 F. 2d at 476.
33. Id. at 483.
34. Id. at 485.
35. Id.
36. Id. See generally Comment, What is a Security? Howey, Turner Enterprises and

Franchise Agreements, 22 U. KAN. L. Rxv. 55 (1973).

130719751



MERCER LAW REVIEW

B. Options on Commodity Futures Contracts

1. SEC v. Continental Commodities Corp."

(a) Options

A ground swell of litigation is forming as investors resort to the federal
securities laws to redress grievances suffered in the commodity futures
trading area. s While it is generally accepted that the federal securities
laws do not reach the trading of pure futures contracts, 39 the acts have been
applied to discretionary trading accounts in commodity futures'0 and op-
tions on commodity futures contracts." Jurisdiction in the former has been
premised on the theory that a discretionary account is equivalent to a
"common enterprise" and thus is an investment contract 2 under the
Howey case. Jurisdiction over options on futures contracts is similarly
based upon finding a "security" pursuant to the Howey formulation. It is
interesting to follow the Fifth Circuit's analysis in Continental
Commodities since it concludes that these options are within the scope of
the federal securities laws even though it analyses the issue using a discre-
tionary account rationale.

37. 497 F.2d 516 (5th Cir. 1974).
38. The federal securities laws should be liberally interpreted to effectuate their remedial

purpose. See note 30 supra.
39. See generally Golding v. Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, Inc., CCH

[Current] FED. SEC. L. REP. 94,896 (S.D.N.Y. Dec. 5, 1974); Berman v. Dean Witter & Co.,
353 F. Supp. 669 (C.D. Cal. 1973); Sinva Inc. v. Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, Inc.,
253 F. Supp. 359 (S.D.N.Y. 1966); Far West Futures Fund, CCH FED. SEC. L. REP. 79,968
(Staff letter, Aug. 5, 1974, available Sept. 4, 1974).

40. See SEC v. North Am. Trading Co., Civil No. 73 C. 2901 (N.D. Ill. November 14,
1973). See generally Hodes and Dreyfus, Discretionary Trading Accounts in Commodity
Futures-Are they Securities?, 30 Bus. LAwYER 99 (1974) [hereinafter cited as Hodes and
Dreyfus]. Contra, Milnarik v. M-S Commodities Inc., 457 F.2d 274 (7th Cir. 1972), cert.
denied, 409 U.S. 887 (1972); Wasnowic v. Chicago Bd. of Trade, 352 F. Supp. 1066 (M.D.
Pa. 1972), aff'd without opinion, 491 F.2d 752 (3rd Cir. 1973), cert. denied, - U.S....
94 S. Ct. 2407 (1974).

41. See generally Burton and Abrahams, Options on Commodity Futures Contracts as
Securities in California, 29 Bus. LAWYER 867 (1974) [hereinafter referred to as Borton and
Abrahams]. Compare Glazer v. National Commodity Research & Statistical Serv., Inc. CCH
FED. SEc. L. REP. 94,978 (N.D. Ill. Sept. 5, 1974). The offer and sale of commodity options
have been held to be securities under state securities statutes. See King Commodity Co. v.
State, 508 S.W. 2d 439 (Tex. Civ. App. 1974); Shapiro v. First-Federated Commodity Trust
Co., 3 Blue Sky L. Rep. 71, 071 (Md. Circ. Ct., Baltimore County, Feb. 27, 1973); People v.
Puts & Calls, Inc. 3 Blue Sky L. Rep. 71, 090 (Cal. Sup. Ct., L.A. County, June 21, 1973);
Clayton Brokerage Co. of St. Louis, Inc. v. Mouer, 3 Blue Sky L. Rep. 71, 132 (Tex. Dist.
Ct., April 18, 1974); In re Goldstein, Samuelson, 3 Blue Sky L. Rep. 71, 095 (Okla. Sec.
Commission, Feb. 23, 1973); and In re Secured Commodities of Ark., Inc., 3 Blue Sky L. Rep.

71, 125 (Ark. Sec. Commission, Jan. 22, 1974). But see International Commodity Trust, Inc.
v. Fisher, 3 Blue Sky L. Rep. 71, 075 (Okla. Dist. Ct., Okla. County, May 14, 1973).

42. An investment contract is included in the definition of a security under the Securities
Act and the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. §§77b(1), 78c(a)(10) (1970).
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The SEC sued to enjoin Continental Commodities Corp., a Texas corpo-
ration, its president, and its affiliated trading partnership from violating
the registration and anti-fraud provisions of the Securities Act and the
Exchange Act in connection with Continental's offer and sale of promissory
notes and options on commodity futures contracts. The district court dis-
missed the Commission's complaint for lack of subject matter jurisdiction.
The Commission appealed and the Fifth Circuit reversed and remanded.

Critical to the Fifth Circuit's holding on the options issue is an under-
standing of Continental's business. Continental would solicit customers to
purchase options on commodity futures, in effect, options on options. The
options were of the "call" variety; i.e. an option to buy a particular con-
tract at a specified price for a specified period of time.'3 The investor
realizes a profit when the price of the contract exceeds the price at which
his option entitles him to obtain the contract. He can either exercise the
option or sell it to another party. Conversely, the investor would lose the
purchase price of the option when the option's striking price is greater than
the underlying contract's existing market price.

Continental was not only the trading enterprise; it also offered its exper-
tise in the commodities area and advised its customers of the most oppor-
tune time to either sell or exercise the option." Continental, however, did
not own the contracts underlying the options which it wrote.' It sold these
"naked" options based upon its perception of market trends. In essence,
it competed with its customers to the extent that when Continental was
correct in its prediction, exercising the options would be unprofitable for
the investor. When it was wrong, Continental would have to expend the
monies received from other investors to cover the option by buying the
underlying contract in the market place. Thus, the investment advice
rendered by Continental is certainly suspect since its interests are adverse
to those of its customers. Moreover, integral to the entire scheme is the
repeated sale of new options to provide funds for the continued functioning
of Continental.

In the course of the opinion, the Fifth Circuit referred to the entity itself
and the services it offered to find a security under the Howey test. The
court dismissed as too restrictive the district court's finding that no com-
mon enterprise existed under Howey. The court found that even though
Continental maintained separate accounts for its customers and did not
pool the investor's funds, a "common enterprise" existed.'" The court

43. 497 F.2d at 519. A "put" is the right to sell a particular contract at a specified price
for a specified period of time. This type of option is not involved here.

44. Id.
45. Id.
46. 497 F.2d at 521. Cf. Milnarik v. M-S Commodities, Inc., 457 F.2d 274 (7th Cir. 1972),

cert. denied, 409 U.S. 887 (1972); Wasnowic v. Chicago Bd. of Trade, 352 F. Supp. 1066 (M.D.
Pa. 1972), aff'd without opinion, 491 F.2d 752 (3d Cir. 1973), cert. denied, - U.S. __, 94
S.Ct. 2407 (1974).
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placed great emphasis upon the unsophisticated investors' reliance on
Continental's expertise to realize a profit from their investment.'7 Moreo-
ver, the court found the essential elements of the scheme to be the success
of the trading enterprise (which was directly dependent upon the invest-
ment abilities of Continental), and the customers' investment in the busi-
ness of Continental.8 Based upon these factors, the court concluded that
the customers' investment in Continental constituted an investment con-
tract within the meaning of the federal securities laws."

However, despite the fact that the issue involved these options, the Fifth
Circuit did not necessarily conclude that options on commodity futures
were securities.N In reaching its holding, the court clearly blended in the
common enterprise-investment contract rationale upon which discretion-
ary trading accounts in commodities futures are held to be securities. 51 The
case should be cited for the proposition that discretionary commodity ac-
counts are securities and not that options on commodity futures contracts
are securities within the meaning of the federal securities laws.

(b) Notes as Securities, Investment Paper v. Commercial Paper

The Commission also alleged that the short term promissory notes is-
sued by Continental were securities. These notes were issued to customers
after Continental's outstanding options were cancelled pending their regis-
tration as securities. 52

Although the issues are more fully discussed below,"3 it is worthwhile to
summarily review the court's disposition of the question in this case.

At the outset, it was evident that Continental's tacking of the nine-
month maturity dates to the notes was to avail itself of the exemption from
registration provided for notes of such duration in section 3(a)(3) of the

47. 497 F.2d at 522.
48. Id. at 522-23.
49. Id. See also Burton and Abrahams, supra note 41 (discussion of People v. Puts and

Calls, Inc., Civil No. C-51071 (Cal. Super. Ct. Los Angeles County, Dept. 51, filed Aug. 6,
1973)). See also SEC v. Goldstein, Samuelson, Inc., Civil No. 73-472 R.J.K. (C.D. Cal. filed
March 5, 1973) reported at (1972-73 Transfer Binder) CCH FED. SEc. L. REP. 93,800 (C.D.
Cal. March 5, 1973). Moreover, the West Coast Commodity Exchange, of which Continental
was a member, issued a notice through the California Commissioner of Corporations classify-
ing all commodity options as securities. This ruling in fact precipitated the case. 497 F.2d
516, 518. Whether the Commodity Futures Trading Commission Act of 1974 will mitigate
these valuable precedents remains to be seen. See H.R. REP. No. 93-1383, 93rd Cong., 2d Sess.
(1974).

50. It should be noted that on appeal the SEC did not raise the argument that the options
were securities. This did not dissuade the court from deciding the issue, 497 F.2d 516, 520,
n.8, citing authority for deciding issues not raised on appeal. The absence of briefs on the
issue may account for the court's confusion in relating the options to discretionary trading
accounts.

51. See note 40 supra.
52. 497 F.2d at 518-19.
53. See notes 60 and.69 infra, and accompanying text.
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Securities Act" and section 3(a)(10) of the Exchange Act.5 5 Despite this,
the court, consistent with the prevailing analysis of this question, looked
to the nature of the transaction in which the note was issued, rather than
its form, as dispositive of whether the note is within the purview of the
federal securities laws."

A note, regardless of its characteristics, will be deemed a security subject
to the provisions of the federal securities laws if it is issued in an invest-
ment transaction.57 The Fifth Circuit observed that the notes were not
issued in a private financing transaction or to liquidate the company but
were issued to rejuvenate Continental and preserve its existence. Thus the
court had little trouble concluding that Continental's customers were in-
vesting in the enterprise. The notes were held to have been issued in an
investment transaction in contradistinction to a commercial transaction.
For these reasons, the fraudulent statements and activities alleged to have
occurred in that transaction are redressable under the federal securities
laws ."'

II. SECuRrrIEs EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

A. Anti-Fraud-Notes as Securities, Investment Paper v. Commercial
Paper

1. Bellah v. First National Bank of Hereford"

During the survey period, the Fifth Circuit had occasion to determine
whether certain promissory notes were securities. In the Bellah case, the
court held that a promissory note issued in the context of a commercial
transaction and not for speculation or investment is not within the ambit
of the Exchange Act. In reaching this conclusion the court rejected a literal
reading of the statute which includes notes within the definition of secu-
rity.' Rather it looked to the nature of the transaction in which the note
was issued to determine whether these instruments should be subjected to
the Exchange Act regulatory pattern.

In this case, the court affirmed the district court's holding that a six-
month promissory note secured by a deed of trust was not cognizable as a

54. 15 U.S.C. § 77c(a)(3) (1970).
55. 15 U.S.C. § 78c(a)(10) (1970).
56. See generally Lipton and Katz, "Notes"Are (Are Not) Always Securities-A Review,

29 Bus. LAWYER 861 (1974) [hereinafter cited as Upton and Katz].
57. See Zeller v. Bogue Elec. Mfg. Corp., 476 F.2d 795 (2nd. Cir. 1973); Sanders v. John

Nuveen & Co., 463 F.2d 1075 (7th Cir.), cert. denied, 409 U.S. 1009 (1972). Cf. Lino v. City
Investing Co., 487 F.2d 689 (3rd Cir. 1973).

58. 497 F.2d at 527.
59. Id. at 529. On remand, the defendants, without admitting or denying the allegations,

consented to the issuance of a permanent injunction. SEC Lit. Rel. No. 6694 (Jan. 28, 1975).
60. 495 F.2d 1109 (5th Cir. 1974).
61. Id. at 1111.
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security under the anti-fraud provisions of the Exchange Act." The court
indicated that the definition of the term "security" should not be applied
mechanically. 3 In addition, the court recognized that statutory language
must be construed in accordance with the Congressional intent in enacting
the statute and those judicial decisions restricting the application of the
term."

In enunciating the standard to be applied, the court considered whether
the note executed by the plaintiffs could be characterized as commercial
or investment paper." In focusing on this question, the court ascertained
that the note was issued in return for a bank loan intended to assist the
borrowers in the operation of a livestock business." The court emphasized
that there was no evidence demonstrating that the bank sought to profit
from the successful operation of the business. 7 Accordingly, the court con-
cluded that an ordinary loan transaction of this nature without investment
overtones was not intended to be subjected to the federal securities laws."

2. McClure v. First National Bank of Lubbock"'

Shortly after the Bellah case, the Fifth Circuit was again presented with
the commercial paper-investment paper controversy in McClure. In this
situation, two individuals each owned fifty per cent of the securities of the
corporation. One shareholder and the defendant bank represented to the
other shareholder, the plaintiff, that the corporation needed to borrow
$200,000 to pay corporate debts. Based on this representation, the plaintiff

62. 15 U.S.C. §78c(a)(10) (1970) which provides:
The term "security" means any note, stock, treasury stock, bond, debenture,

certificate of interest or participation in any profit-sharing agreement or in any oil,
gas, or other mineral royalty or lease, any collateral-trust certificate, preorganiza-
tion certificate or subscription, transferable share, investment contract, voting-
trust certificate, certificate of deposit, for a security, or in general, any instrument
commonly known as a "security"; or any certificate of interest or participation in,
temporary or interim certificate for, receipt for, or warrant or right to subscribe to
or purchase, any of the foregoing; but shall not include currency or any note, draft,
bill of exchange, or banker's acceptance which has a maturity at the time of issu-
ance of not exceeding nine months, exclusive of days of grace, or any renewal thereof
the maturity of which is likewise limited.

63. 495 F.2d at 1114.
64. Id. at 1112-14.
65. Id. See aiso Lino v. City Investing Co., 487 F.2d 689 (3rd Cir. 1973); United States v.

Rachal, 473 F.2d 1338 (5th Cir. 1973); SEC v. Fifth Ave. Coach Lines, Inc., 435 F.2d 510 (2d
Cir. 1970); Rekant v. Desser, 425 F.2d 872 (5th Cir. 1970); City Nat'l. Bank v. Vanderboom,
422 F.2d 221 (8th Cir.), cert. denied., 399 U.S. 905 (1970).

66. United States v. Rachal, 473 F.2d 1338 (5th Cir. 1973), where the court held that the
exemption for short term paper under the Exchange Act applies only to commercial paper.
Id. at 1142-43.

67. 495 F.2d at 1113.
68. Id. at 1114.
69. 497 F.2d at 490.
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borrowed that sum of money on behalf of the corporation by executing a
one-year promissory note secured by a deed of trust on the corporation's
land, which was virtually its only asset.

It was discovered that the defendant shareholder diverted the monies
from the corporation and" used the funds to reduce his personal debt to the
defendant bank. Concomitantly, the defendant shareholder executed a
worthless personal note to the corporation for the funds he had wrongfully
diverted. 0 Subsequently, the plaintiff shareholder pledged personal assets
to renew the $200,000 loan to the corporation. Inevitably, with the note
unpaid, the defendant bank foreclosed on the land, whereupon plaintiff
instituted the lawsuit alleging jurisdiction under the Exchange Act.

In upholding the district court's dismissal, the Fifth Circuit held that
the transaction amounted to an ordinary commercial loan transaction and
not a security.7 Relying on a long series of cases, the court asserted that
"transactions between payor and payee which are not of an investment
nature," 7

1 are excluded from the act's coverage. Unlike the "resuscitative"
nature of the notes in the Continental Commodities case," the court found
that the factors which generally ascribe investment characteristics to a
transaction, such as an offering to a class of investors or an intention to
acquire investment assets for speculation, were lacking here. 7'

The court observed that the Exchange Act encompasses all investment
notes no matter how short their maturity. Nevertheless, the court indi-
cated that commercial notes are excluded from coverage under the Ex-
change Act regardless of their maturity since they fall outside the defini-
tion of a security. 7

The second major issue raised in McClure related to a determination of
whether the plaintiff's pledge of stock in consideration for the renewal of
the loan constituted the sale of a security within the meaning of section
10(b) of the Exchange Act" and rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder.7 7 Here
the court indicated that it had little doubt that a pledge may be deemed
a "sale" in certain instances.78 However, the court found that the "mere

70. Id. at 492.
71. Id. at 495.
72. Id. at 493.
73. See note 37, supra.
74. 497 F.2d at 493. In Zeller v. Bogue Elec. Mfg. Corp., 476 F.2d 795, the court noted

four criteria which should be taken into consideration in determining the commercial charac-
teristics of a note. These factors are that the notes be (1) of prime quality; (2) used to finance
current transactions; (3) not offered to the public; and (4) discountable at a Federal Reserve
Bank. See also SEC Securities Act Rel. No. 4412 (Sept. 20, 1961); The Commercial Paper
Market and the Securities Acts, 39 U. Cm. L. Rsv. 362 (1972).

75. 497 F.2d at 495.
76. 15 U.S.C. §78j(b) 1970.
77. 17 C.F.R. §240.10b-5 (1974).
78. 497 F.2d at 495. See generally SEC v. Guild Films Co., 279 F.2d 485 (2d Cir.), cert.

denied, 364 U.S. 819, (1960); SEC v. National Bankers Life Ins. Co., 477 F.2d 920 (5th Cir.
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acceptance" of a pledge of securities as collateral in a commercial banking
context does not, without more, invoke the provisions of the federal securi-
ties laws.7' Furthermore, in this instance the court distinguished this case
because the defendant bank foreclosed on the land and not on the plain-
tiff's pledged stock.80

In these two cases the court looked at the context and substance of the
transaction as well as the intent of the parties. By utilizing this approach
the court avoided a ritualistic application of the statute which would have
made every note a security. McClure and Bellah indicate that the federal
securities laws, which were designed to curb abuses in the investment
sphere, are not appropriate vehicles to redress complaints spawned by
normal business and consumer transactions."

B. Anti-Fraud-Minority Freeze-Outs

1. Bryan v. Brock & Blevins Co., Inc."2

In a decision that has generated a great deal of interest since the recent
"going private" phenomenon,83 the Fifth Circuit has apparently struck a
blow for the rights of minority shareholders. Just how far the decision
reaches and whether it is the harbinger of a new era will ultimately be
decided in future cases. At this point a critical examination of the holding
will help to determine just what Bryan portends for this proliferating area
of litigation.'

The plaintiff was a large stockholder and a former officer, director, and
employee of the closely held defendant corporation. Upon his resignation,
he became an "inactive" shareholder." Although various individuals asso-
ciated with the company attempted to induce him to sell his stock, the
plaintiff refused all offers. Finally, he was advised that if he did not accept
one of the offers, the management would effect certain fundamental
changes in the corporate structure pursuant to the provisions of the Geor-
gia corporation merger statute." Even though these changes would have
the effect of eliminating him as a shareholder, the plaintiff did not respond

1973); SEC v. Pig'n Whistle Corp.j 359 F. Supp. 219 (N.D. 111. 1973); American Bank & Trust
Co. v. Joste, 323 F. Supp. 843 (W.D. La. 1970).

79. 497 F.2d 495-96.
80. Id. at 496.
81. See Lipton and Katz note 56 supra.
82. 490 F.2d 563 (5th Cir. 1974), aff'g, 343 F. Supp. 1062 (N.D. Ga. 1972).
83. "Going private" has been defined as any transaction or series of transactions engaged

in by an issuer or its affiliate, which would, if successful, permit the issuer to cease filing
reports under the Exchange Act. SEC Securities Act Rel. No. 5567 (Feb. 6, 1975).

84. See generally Address by A. A. Sommer, Jr., "Going Private". A Lesson in Corporate
Responsibility, Law Advisory Council Lecture, Notre Dame Law School, South Bend, Indi-
ana (Nov. 14, 1974). Speech in full text, CCH FED. SEc. L. REP. 80,010 (Nov. 20, 1974).

85. 490 F.2d at 565.
86. GA. CODE ANN. §22-1001 et. seq. (1969).
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to the final offer.
Shortly thereafter, the majority shareholders voted a plan of merger

whereby their interests in the company were exchanged for stock in a new
corporation formed to effect the merger. Pursuant to the plan, the directors
of the new corporation voted to cancel the plaintiff's shares of the predeces-
sor corporation, and in lieu thereof he received $290,000. All legal formali-
ties under state law were followed, and the plaintiff received notice of the
meeting whereby the merger of the companies was to be voted upon by the
shareholders. 7

The plaintiff sued to enjoin the merger alleging that the plan was a
device or scheme concocted to defraud him of his status as a shareholder
in an existing corporationA' Jurisdiction was based in the federal court
because of the allegation that the Georgia corporation merger statute was
the device utilized by the defendants to defraud the plaintiff of his rights
as a shareholder under the Exchange Act.8

The district court held that a forced surrender of shares constituted a
sale of a security within the meaning of state and federal securities law."
It then found that the defendant's activities in connection with the forced
sale violated the anti-fraud provisions of the Exchange Act." In the first
instance it failed to ascertain a "business purpose" for the merger.'2 Sec-
ondly, the court was particularly incensed that the state merger statute
had been perverted in such a manner. In all, the court concluded that the
entire transaction acted as a fraud and deceit upon the plaintiff. 3

The ramifications of the trial court's holding are staggering. Conceiva-
bly, it could be extended to cover any corporate act which would have the
effect of freezing out or diminishing the rights of minority shareholders.
Perhaps this is why the case generated so much excitement." It should be
noted, however, that the Fifth Circuit upheld the trial court's grant of an
injunction on a slightly different basis. A careful reading of the opinion and
an understanding of its historical foundation somewhat tempers its reach.
The court specifically held the following:

87. 490 F.2d at 567.
88. Id. at 567-68.
89. Id. at 564-65.
90. Id. at 568. See Dudley v. Southeastern Factor and Fin. Corp., 446 F.2d 303 (5th Cir.

1971); Vine v. Beneficial Fin. Co., 374 F.2d 627 (3d. Cir.), cert. denied, 389 U.S. 970 (1967).
91. 490 F.2d at 568-69. The first statement made was that financial statements for 1971

were enclosed in the merger materials. This was impossible since the year had not yet ended.
The second was an omission to inform the plaintiff of existing acquisition discussions which
would likely have a material impact on the future value of the company's stock.

92. 490 F.2d at 570. Cf. Grimes v. Donaldson, Lufkin and Jenrette, Inc., CCH FaD. SEc.

L. REP. 94,722 (N.D. Fla. July 15, 1972) where the court refused to enjoin a merger between
two related companies on the basis that there was a legitimate business purpose for the
transaction. But see Albright v. Bergendahl, CCH Fan. SEc. L. REP. 94,997 (D. Utah, Sept.
5, 1974).

93. 490 F.2d at 568-69.
94. See supra note 84.
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We think that the case so clearly established the right of the plaintiff to
the relief granted by the trial court under general principles of corporation
law . . . that we pretermit a determination as to whether the trial court
correctly related the misuse of the Georgia statute to the Securities Ex-
change law, and approve the decision on the basis of general equity and
state law grounds.'

The Fifth Circuit's holding is premised on long established principles of
equity. It relied heavily on the landmark U.S. Supreme Court decision,
Pepper v. Litton," which set forth the principle that majority shareholders
are fiduciaries and therefore cannot utilize their position for personal bene-
fit at the expense of the minority despite compliance with legal technicali-
ties." In the court's view the plaintiff was a victim of an "equitable fraud"
perpetrated when the defendants failed to fulfill their fiduciary obliga-
tions. 8 It was clear that there was no business purpose to the merger and
that the defendants utilized strong-arm tactics to accomplish a result
which they otherwise could not have attained." This was sufficient to
affirm the trial court's granting of an injunction.

It must be noted that the court did not reach any of the other issues
raised due to its disposition of the matter. It did not answer the question
of whether all instances of minority freeze-outs are enjoinable. It also did
not address the "going private" area.' ® Nevertheless, the lesson to be
learned from Bryan is that the practitioner will probably fare better if he
utilizes historical principles of equity to enjoin instances of minority
freeze-outs or "going private" situations, instead of attacking the transac-
tion itself as a fraud under the federal securities laws. 10

95. 490 F.2d at 571 (emphasis added).
96. 308 U.S. 295 (1939). See also Lebold v. Inland Steel Co., 125 F.2d 369 (7th Cir. 1941).
97. 125 F.2d at 369. See generally Jacobs, The Role of Securities Exchange Act Rule 10b-

5 in the Regulation of Corporate Management, 59 CoINEL L. Rav. 27 (1973). Roantree, The
Continuing Development of Rule 10b-5 as a Means of Enforcing the Fiduciary Duties of
Directors and Controlling Shareholders. 34 U. Prrr. L. Rav. 201 (1972); Sonde and Freedman,
"Seagulls on the Water-Some Ships in a Storm": A Comment on Lanza v. Drexel, 49
N.Y.U.L. Ray. 270 (1974) [hereinafter referred to as Sonde and Freedman]; Preventing
Directors Liability Under the Securities Laws, PLI Course Handbook Series No. 135 (1974).

98. 490 F.2d at 570. See Sonde and Freedman, supra note 97, at 288 and cases cited
therein.

99. The legislative history of the Securities Act makes clear that directors should be held
to high standards of trusteeship. H.R. REP. No. 85, 73rd Cong., 1st Sess. 3 (1933).

100. At the time of the court's opinion the term "going private" had not been generally
recognized. Although the minority freeze out which was present is one method of going
private, others include reverse stock splits, tender offers, mergers, sales of assets, and ex-
change offers involving the exchange of debt securities for equity securities.

101. See Kaufman v. Lawrence, CCH FED. SEC. L. REP. 94,908 (S.D.N.Y. Dec. 5, 1974).
The court refused to enjoin a "going private" transaction where the plaintiff sued under the
anti-fraud provisions of the Exchange Act. Compare Broder v. Dane, CCH FED. SEC. L. REP.

94,875 (S.D.N.Y. Nov. 21, 1974), where a "going private" transaction was preliminarily
enjoined under the tender offer anti-fraud provisions (15 U.S.C. §78n(e) (1970)) because
material facts were omitted from the exchange offer.
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C. Tender Offers

1. Smallwood v. Pearl Brewing Co.'°

In this case plaintiff-appellant alleged that the defendant corporations
violated the anti-fraud,0 3 proxy104 and tender offer' 5 provisions of the Ex-
change Act in connection with their merger. He was accorded standing as
a "forced seller"'' under the Birnbaum doctrine'07 to allege violations of
various provisions of the federal securities laws. After a jury trial the court
below found that no violations of the federal securities laws had been
established. The Fifth Circuit affirmed.

The opinion deals primarily with the anti-fraud and proxy violation
allegations. The interesting aspect of the opinion and the one which will
be explored here relates to the court's disposition of the issues raised under
the tender offer statute.

In 1968, Pearl Brewing Company (Pearl) began searching for a merger
partner. In the spring of 1969 it discovered Southdown Inc. (Southdown).
Thereafter, negotiations ensued, and a merger agreement was approved by
Pearl's Board of Directors. The agreement provided that Pearl would be
merged into Southdown through an exchange of one share of Southdown
convertible preferred stock for each share of Pearl common owned by
Pearl's stockholders. In addition, upon consummation of the merger,
Pearl's shareholders receiving Southdown convertible preferred stock
would be permitted to sell 45% of these holdings to an underwriter for $45
per share.'

In connection with the merger, Southdown mailed a cover letter, a draft
of an underwriting agreement, a preliminary prospectus and forms to
Pearl's shareholders. The cover letter, in pertinent part, informed the
shareholders that in order to sell the Southdown preferred to the underwri-
ters they must forward their Pearl certificates with the appropriate forms
to the exchange agent. The issue dealt with in the court's opinion was
whether Southdown's letter to Pearl shareholders constituted a tender offer

102. 489 F.2d 579 (5th Cir. 1974), aff'g, Smallwood v. Southdown, Inc. [1971-72 Transfer
Binder] CCH FED. SEC. L. REP. 93,435 (N.D. Tex. March 21, 1972), cert. denied,__ U.S.
__ 95 S. Ct. 134 (1974).

103. 15 U.S.C. §78j(b) (1970); 17 C.F.R. §240.10b-5 (1974).
104. 15 U.S.C. §78n(a)(c) (1970); 17 C.F.R. §240.14a-1-14c-7 (1974).
105. 15 U.S.C. §78n(d)(e) (1970); 17 C.F.R. §240.14d-1 et seq. (1974).
106. See supra note 90.
107. See Birnbaum v. Newport Steel Corp., 193 F.2d 461 (2d. Cir. 1952), cert. denied, 343

U.S. 956 (1952). Only purchasers or sellers of securities have standing to allege violations of
the federal securities laws. The Supreme Court recently affirmed this doctrine in Blue Chip
Stamps v. Manor Drug Stores, - U.S. - , 43 U.S.L.W. 4707 (June 10, 1975).

108. This offering was to be underwritten by Lehman Brothers (Lehman) and effected to
avoid making this merger taxable to Pearl shareholders. Lehman's role was subsequently
assumed by Southdown's controlling shareholder, Zapata, and this forms the basis of the rule
10b-5 allegations in the case.
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within the meaning of section 14(e)' of the Exchange Act.
The court first set out the statutory language of section 14(e) and opined

that the anti-fraud provisions of the tender offer rules apply to all tender
offers." The court then recognized that the purchaser-seller language of
rule 10b-5 is conspicuously absent from section 14(e) even though for all
other purposes section 14(e) is identical to rule lOb-5."' For this reason the
court concluded that broader standing is thus conferred.

Thereafter, the court noted the absence of a definition for the term
tender offer,"' concluded it was not inadvertent,"' and stated that a com-
monly recognized ingredient of a tender offer is its invitation to purchase
stock at a specified price."' The court then held that the letter was a tender
offer for the purpose of section 14(e) but refused to elevate the misstate-
ment contained therein to a violation of the statute."'

The novelty of the opinion appears to be that the court extended the
statute beyond the parameters contemplated by Congress. The tender offer
provisions were designed to "close the gap" in federal securities regulation
by providing certain shareholder protections when a bidder solicits the
public to present their shares in the target corporation to him for accept-
ance."' Mergers pursuant to exchange offers have long been regulated
under the Securities Act" 7 and the proxy provisions of the Exchange Act."8

There is no gap in regulation here, but even if there were, the anti-fraud
provisions of the securities laws are available to redress any misstatements
or omissions of material facts in connection with the merger.

It is clear that the tender offer statute was not designed nor intended to
apply to the situation presented here. In this instance, this offer to pur-
chase 45% of the preferred stock received in exchange for the Pearl com-
mon was directed to a specified class of security holders and not the general
public.

109. 15 U.S.C. §78n(e) (1970). This is the anti-fraud aspect of the tender offer provisions
of the federal securities laws.

110. 489 F.2d at 595-96. See generally Henry Heide, Inc., CCH FED. SEc. L. RaP. 78,838
(Staff letter May 1, 1972 available May 31, 1972); The Developing Meaning of "Tender Offer"
Under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 86 HAnv. L. REv. 1250 (1973).

111. 489 F.2d at 596. See generally Chris-Craft Indus., Inc. v. Piper Aircraft Corp., 480
F.2d 341 (2d Cir. 1973).

112. 489 F.2d at 596.
113. Id. at 598.
114. Id. at 597 n.22.
115. Id. at 605-06. The court did not address the issue of whether the defendant's offer

should have complied with section 14(d) of the Securities Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. §78n(d)
(1970)) and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder [17 C.F.R. § 240.14d-1 et. seq.
(1974)].

116. See generally Moylan, Exploring the Tender Offer Provisions of the Federal Securi-
ties Laws, 43 Geo. Wash. L. Rev. 551, 580 (1975) [hereinafter referred to as Moylan]; accord,
Cattlemen's Inv. Co. v. Fears, 343 F. Supp. 1248 (W.D. Okla. 1972), vacated per stipulation,
Civil No. 72-152 (W.D. Okla. May 8, 1972).

117. U.S.C. §77a(5) et. seq. (1970). 17 C.F.R. §230.400 et. seq. (1974).
118. 15 U.S.C. §78n(a) (1970); 17 C.F.R. §240.14a 1-14c-7 (1974).
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Moreover, even though the letter contained instructions directing the
shareholders to do certain things which would typically be found in a
conventional tender offer, this is not a proper reason to classify it as such.
The critical factor which should have been addressed is whether the com-
munication was solicitous of Pearl's security holders. In fact, this letter was
nothing but instructional, and the court so stated:

On November 18, 1969, Southdown sent to Pearl's shareholders a cover
letter with attachments to instruct the shareholders in the procedures
necessary for them to sell their Southdown preferred stock to underwriters
for $45 a share."

2. Sargent v. Genesco, Inc. 110

The second case which deals with the recent tender offer legislation is
the Sargent case. Although in principal part the appeal is concerned with
the sufficiency of the complaint, the court's discussion of section 14(e) 2'
under the Exchange Act is worthy of note. This statute is discussed in
connection with the court's determination that although the plaintiff had
standing to maintain a private cause of action for damages under sections
10(b), 14(a) and 14(e) 2 of the Exchange Act, not all of his allegations were
sustainable.'2

In Sargent a Florida corporation engaged in the business of retail shoe
sales went public in 1963. The company issued increasingly favorable fin-
ancial reports until 1967 when it was discovered that the statements were
misleading in that they materially overstated cash, inventories, fixed and
total assets, retained earnings, and accordingly, the earnings per share
figures."' These financial statements were disseminated to the public in
connection with the company's proxy soliciting materials and its annual
and periodic reports 2 0 In addition, the financial statements appeared in
the prospectus used in connection with the company's public offering of
$1.5 million of 6% convertible subordinated debentures.'

119. 489 F.2d 579, 605 (emphasis added).
120. 492 F.2d 750 (5th Cir. 1974), aff'g. in part, 352 F. Supp. 66 (M.D. Fla. 1972).
121. 15 U.S.C. §78n(e) (1970).
122. 15 U.S.C. §§78j(b), n(a), n(e) (1970). Private causes of action are maintainable under

the federal securities laws. Herpich v. Wallace, 430 F.2d 792 (5th Cir. 1970) (section 10(b));
J. I. Case v. Borak, 377 U.S. 426 (1964) (section 14(a)); H. K. Porter Co. v. Nicholson File
Co., 482 F.2d 421 (1st Cir. 1973) and Smallwood v. Pearl Brewing Co., 489 F.2d 579 (5th Cir.
1974) (section 14(e)).

123. The plaintiffs originally brought suit in the Southern District of New York but the
case was transferred to Florida. The appellate court affirmed the district court's ruling that
under the rule in Van Dusen v. Barrack, 376 U.S. 612 (1964), the change of venue required
the transferee forum to apply New York's six-year statute of limitations.

124. 492 F.2d at 755.
125. Id.
126. Id. The principal of the company pleaded guilty to an indictment arising out of the

facts of this case. Id. at 755.
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After it was discovered that this prospectus was false and misleading,
the company's management, underwriters, major supplier and its major
creditor agreed to a refinancing plan. As part of this plan they would offer
to repurchase the debentures and subordinate certain of their rights in
order to maintain the existence of the company. The offer to repurchase
the debentures was registered as a tender offer' 27 and the plan was contin-
gent upon approval of 80% of the debenture holders. 128 Toward this end the
architects of the plan distributed a letter to all the company's shareholders
reporting on the status of the company and relating the terms of the refi-
nancing plan.'2 The plan was later accepted by the company's stockhold-
ers.

A major portion of the court's opinion deals with fundamental issues
relating to standing, privity, scienter, and causation as elements of actions
brought under the anti-fraud provisions of the federal securities laws.
Here, as in Smallwood, the court's application of section 14(e) to the facts
is the interesting aspect of this opinion.

The plaintiffs made a double-barrel attack on the letter to shareholders
alleging that it was not only a solicitation of a proxy within the meaning
of section 14(a)'" but also a "'solicitation of security holders . . . in favor
of' a tender offer"'' in violation of section 14(e). Although the court found
that this was not the usual type of proxy solicitation case and that no
shareholder's vote was sought, it concluded that dismissal of this claim
would be unwarranted and remanded the proxy issue for further considera-
tion. "'32 The section 14(e) claim was also dismissed but on different
grounds. 1-

The Fifth Circuit's approach enabled it to avoid addressing the issue of
what is a tender offer. The offer to purchase debentures was the only part
of the refinancing plan which had been registered as a tender offer. The
plaintiffs, however, did not complain of any misstatements or omissions
in the refinancing plan.Iu Their complaint was directed at the alleged
misstatements and omission in the letter.13

By deeming the letter part of the tender offer solicitation the court
skipped the principal issue. The letter should have been scrutinized by the
court to determine whether it was the type of communication which Con-
gress contemplated to be within the ambit of the tender offer provisions of

127. Id. at 768.
128. Id. at 755.
129. Id.
130. 15 U.S.C. §78n(a) (1970).
131. 492 F.2d at 768.
132. Id. at 768-70.
133. Id. at 770. The district court concluded that the letter did not require the plaintiffs

to do anything, thus there was no proxy or tender offer solicitation. Id. at 762.
134. Id. at 757.
135. Id. The plaintiffs argued that the letter failed to disclose the participants' conflict

of interest in the plan. Id. at 768.
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the federal securities laws. By the court's own statement, the letter of itself
could not be a tender offer since it only provided information'3" and did not
resemble a conventional tender offer. 3 ' In addition, it did not solicit share-
holders to present their shares for acceptance, the offer to purchase had
that effect. Therefore, the letter could not constitute a tender offer, and it
should not have been deemed one for the purpose of section 14(e).

In any event, the court dismissed the section 14(e) claim since the plain-
tiffs failed to allege that the disclosure made to the debenture holders was
insufficient.'" Since the class sought to be protected had not been harmed,
no violation of section 14(e) was shown.''

III. ABsTRAcTs

A. Securities Act of 1933

1. The Registration Provisions

In Lewis v. Walston & Co.,"' a case involving civil liabilities for viola-
tions of the registration provisions of the federal securities laws, the court
found a registered representative (R.R.) and brokerage firm liable for sell-
ing unregistered securities. The decision was based on section 12(1) of the
Securities Act,"' which imposes civil liability for sales of securities in viola-
tion of section 5 of the Securities Act."' Taking a broad view of the defini-
tion of sale, the court held that although the R. R. did not directly own the
securities sold to the plaintiff, she participated in the transaction to such
an extent that she was deemed a seller within the meaning of section 12(1)
of the act." 3

136. "The tenor of the letter is informational . Id. at 756.
137. See generally Moylan, supra note 116; 86 HARv. L. Rav., supra note 110.
138. 492 F.2d 750, 769.
139. Id. Perhaps the recent SEC hearings involving tender offers and related problems will

shed some light on this area. See Securities Act Rel. No. 5538 tNovember 5, 1974).
140. 487 F.2d 617 (5th Cir. 1973), aff'g in part, 347 F.Supp. 995 (S.D. Fla. 1972).
141. 15 U.S.C. §771(1)(2) (1970) which provides that

Any person who-(1) offers or sells a security in violation of section 5 . . . shall be
liable to the person purchasing such security from him, who may sue either at law
or in pquity in any court of competent jurisdiction to recover the consideration paid
for such security with interest thereon, less the amount of any income received
thereon, upon the tender of such security, or for damages if he no longer owns the
security.

142. 15 U.S.C. §77e (1970).
143. 487 F.2d 617, 621. See Crone v. Courtright, 2 Ohio App. 2d 125, 206 N.E.2d 913

(1964). See generally 3 L. Loss, SEcumrnEs REGULATION 1693 (2d ed. 1961) wherein it is stated
that the liability under section 12(1) is virtually absolute. A plaintiff need only allege and
prove the following five elements: (1) that the defendant was a seller or, under section 15, a
person in control of a seller; (2) interstate commerce use; (3) a failure by the defendant to
comply with registration or prospectus requirements; (4) no statute of limitation bar; and (5)
adequate tender was made when the plaintiff seeks rescission.
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In ruling that the R.R. was the proximate cause of the sale, the court
reviewed her entire course of conduct.", In assessing the R.R. 's liability for
selling unregistered securities, the court observed that she touted the unre-
gistered securities to customers, arranged the initial meeting where securi-
ties were sold, solicited additional sales, misrepresented the position of the
brokerage firm, and gave supposedly knowledgeable advice to the inves-
tors. 14

5

With respect to the liability of the brokerage firm, the court held the firm
liable to the plaintiff based upon principles of agency law arising out of
this master-servant relationship4 rather than on a control person theory
contained in section 15 of the Securities Act."7 The court found the R. R.'s
unauthorized conduct to be within the scope of her employment even
though the brokerage firm received no financial benefit from the transac-
tion"18 and even advised the R.R. against touting the securities.

2. Control Persons

In Ayers v. Wolfinbarger,' a case involving the interpretation of the
term "controlling person" under section 15 of the Securities Act,15 the
Fifth Circuit declined to find an individual and two corporations liable as
control persons for securities laws violations "based solely on conjecture in
the guise of inference."'' Here the individual and two corporations sold
their interest in another corporation to other persons. After obtaining con-
trol, the purchasers sold unregistered securities of the corporation on the
basis of false information. The plaintiff instituted suit and included the
original sellers as defendants.

144. 487 F.2d at 622. Previously the Fifth Circuit in Hill York Corp. v. American Int'l
Franchises Inc., 448 F.2d 680, 693 (5th Cir. 1971) specified a standard to determine who may
be a seller by stating:

We hold that the proper test is the one previously forged by the court in Lennerth
v. Mendenhall, supra, [234 F.Supp. 59 (N.D. Ohio, 1964)] . . . [tihe line of
demarcation must be drawn in terms of cause and effect: to borrow a phrase from
the law of negligence, did the injury to the plaintiff flow directly and proximately
from the actions of this particular defendant?

145. Id. at 619.
146. Id. at 624.
147. 15 U.S.C. §77o (1974) provides:

Every person who, by or through stock ownership, agency, or otherwise, or who,
pursuant to or in connection with an agreement or understanding with one or more
other persons by or through stock ownership, agency, or otherwise, controls any
person liable under section[s] [. . .77k or 771 of this title], shall also be liable
jointly and severally with and to the same extent as such controlled person to any
person to whom such controlled person is liable, unless the controlling person had
no knowledge of or reasonable ground to believe in the existence of the facts by
reason of which the liability of the controlled person is alleged to exist.

148. 487 F.2d at 624.
149. 491 F.2d 8 (5th Cir.), rehearing denied, 493 F.2d 1405 (1974).
150. 15 U.S.C. §77o (1974).
151. 491 F.2d at 16.

[Vol. 261322



SECURITIES LAW

Finding that the plaintiffs had the burden to demonstrate control,", the
court determined that the evidence presented was insufficient to meet this
burden. There was no showing that the defendants knew or should have
known that the purchaser's sales would violate the securities laws. The
court found that a portion of the deferred purchase price of the securities
was secured by a pledge of the stock with provisions for default if payments
were not made. However, the court stated that this was insufficient to vest
control in the sellers so as to render them liable for securities law violations
by the purchasers.'u In addition the court indicated that there was no
evidence presented which would demonstrate that a stock transaction be-
tween the defendant and the corporation was anything but an unrelated
arms-length transaction.''

B. Securities Exchange Act of 1934

1. Anti-Fraud-General

The Fifth Circuit held in McDonough v. Champburger Corp. 'I that the
allegations of violations of the anti-fraud provisions of the Exchange Act'51
in connection with the company's plan of reorganization were insufficient
to sustain the complaint. 57

The minority stockholders had alleged that the plan of reorganization,
which involved a complete reapplication of the company's assets to a new
field of endeavor, was laden with fraud.' The court failed to see the
materiality 5' of the allegation that there was insufficient disclosure of the
former relationships of two newly elected directors to the company in light

152. The SEC has defined control in Rule 405, 17 CFR §230.405 (1974), as follows:
The term "control" (including the terms "controlling," "controlled" and "under
common control with") means the possession, direct or indirect, of the power to
direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of a person, whether
through the ownership of voting securities, by contract, or otherwise.

See generally Sommers, Who's "In Control"?-SEC, 21 Bus. LAwYER 559 (1966).
153. 491 F.2d at 15.
154. Id.
155. 488 F.2d 948 (5th Cir. 1974).
156. 15 U.S.C. §78j(b) (1970); 17 C.F.R. §240.10b-5 (1974).
157. 488 F.2d at 953. These securities were not registered pursuant to section 12 of the

Exchange -Act [15 U.S.C. §781 (1970)] and therefore the proxy provisions of the federal
securities laws were inapplicable [15 U.S.C. §7n(a) et. seq. (1970), 17 C.F.R. §§240.14a-1,
14a-7 (1974)].

158. Id. at 951.
159. See Affiliated Ute Citizens v. United States, 406 U.S. 128 (1972), wherein the court

stated: "All that is necessary is that the facts withheld be material in the sense that a
reasonable investor might have considered them important in the making of this decision."
Id. at 153. For "materiality" standard in proxy cases, see also, Mills v. Electric Auto-Lite
Co. 396 U.S. 375 (1970); J.I. Case v. Borak 377 U.S. 426 (1964); Gerstle v. Gamble Skogmo,
Inc. 487 F.2d 1281 (2nd Cir. 1973); Puma v. Marriott et. al. CCH Fed. Sec. L. Rep. 94, 136
(D. Del., Aug. 8, 1973).
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of the totality of the disclosures made in the proxy materials.1'" Secondly,
the omission of the balance sheet was not deemed material, since in this
case, the stockholders were already familiar with the assets of their com-
pany and were aware that the company into which theirs was to be merged
had no operating history.'

In Vohs v. Dickson' buyers of unregistered securities brought an action
under section 10(b) of the Exchange Act' and Rule 10b-5 promulgated
thereunder' against the seller who also happened to be a fellow employee.
The plaintiffs alleged that the seller failed to disclose material facts,
which, in the exercise of due diligence, he should have known. The court
rejected this contention by stating that the seller had no more access to
undisclosed material information about the employer corporation than did
the purchasers.'" The bare fact that the seller had a close working relation-
ship with a corporate officer was deemed clearly irrelevant absent a show-
ing of wrongdoing.'"

In this case the court found that the defendant seller had no reason to
believe that there was insufficient disclosure. Further, the court indicated
that the buyer and seller were equally well-informed on the facts and had
the potential for equal access to corporate information. The court also
determined that not only did the seller have a duty to disclose information,
but likewise the buyers were charged with a duty of reasonable investiga-
tion. ' 7 Here the investigation by the buyers failed to disclose the preca-
rious condition of the company.'" Accordingly, the court seemed disin-
clined to impose an insurer's role on the defendant seller.' Moreover, the
court stated that the standard for scienter in private actions under 10b-5
requires some culpability beyond mere negligence before liability may be
assessed. 7°

Another case imposing the Exchange Act anti-fraud liability upon a
brokerage firm for acts of an R.R. was Bird v. Ferry. 7 This case arose when
members of an investment club instituted action against a brokerage firm
which employed the R.R. who used the club's funds for personal specula-
tion while also acting as its financial adviser.

160. 488 F.2d at 952.
161. Id. at 953. See Swanson v. American Consumer Indus., Inc. 415 F.2d 1326 (7th Cir.

1969).
162. 495 F.2d 607 (5th Cir. 1974), afl'g, 321 F.Supp. 814 (N.D. Ga. 1970).
163. 15 U.S.C. §78j(b) (1970).
164. 17 C.F.R. §240.10b-5 (1974).
165. 495 F.2d at 623.
166. Id.
167. Id.
168. Id.
169. Id. at 624.
170. Id. at 622. See also Smallwood v. Pearl Brewing Co., 489 F.2d 579 (5th Cir. 1974);

Sargent v. Genesco, Inc., 492 F.2d 750 (5th Cir. 1974).
171. 497 F.2d 112 (5th Cir. 1974).
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The court found that the club members exercised sufficient due dili-
gence for their own protection.' The court also found that the brokerage
firm knew that the R.R. was in a quasi-fiduciary position.' As such, the
brokerage firm was held to be liable under the doctrine of respondeat
superior for damages amounting to the sum necessary to restore the invest-
ment club to the position it would have occupied had the defalcations not
occurred.

During the year 1974, the Fifth Circuit in James v. DuBreuil7' had the
opportunity to decide whether a seller, who had intentionally participated
in a fraudulent transaction with a buyer, could successfully recover against
him under the anti-fraud provisions of the Exchange Act.' The buyer and
seller had entered into an agreement that contemplated a scheme to vio-
late the insider trading provisions of the federal securities laws. In deter-
mining that each party was equally at fault, the court considered whether
the defenses of in pari delicto or unclean hands should be applied.,

Recognizing the negative policy implications that would emanate from
a situation where a person is permitted to benefit from his wrongful con-
duct, the court affirmed the dismissal of the action by the district court. 77

In so doing the court relied upon Kuehnert v. Texstar Corp., 17 which held
that public interest considerations did not warrant resolution of controver-
sies between joint conspirators. 7 Moreover, the court noted that the allow-
ance of the defenses of in pari delicto or unclean hands would not serve to
protect the investing public which is the primary purpose of the federal
securities laws.'

2. Broker-Dealers-Margin Requirements

In Gordon v. duPont Glore Forgan, Inc. "I the Fifth Circuit affirmed the
lower court's decision that customers of a broker-dealer who were aware of
the status of their margin account and failed to take corrective action could
not recover damages for the broker's negligence in failing to notify them
that the account was undermargined.'8 ' By the same reasoning, the Fifth

172. Id. at 114.
173. Id.
174. 500 F.2d 155 (5th Cir. 1974).
175. 15.U.S.C. §78j(b) (1970), 17 C.F.R. §240.10b-5 (1972).
176. 500 F.2d at 160.
177. Id.
178. 412 F.2d 700 (5th Cir. 1969).
179. See generally Ruder, Multiple Defendants in Securities Law Fraud Cases: Aiding

and Abetting, Conspiracy, In Pari Delicto, Indemnification, and Contribution, 120 U. PA. L.
REv. 597, 662 (1972); Comment, The Demise of In Pari Delicto in Private Actions Pursuant
to Regulatory Schemes, 60 CAL. L. Rav. 572 (1972).

180. 500 F.2d at 160. See generally Nathanson v. Weis, Voisin, Cannon, Inc. 325 F.Supp.
50 (S.D.N.Y. 1971)..

181. 487 F.2d 1260 (5th Cir. 1973), cert. denied, 417 U.S. 946 (1974).
182. Id. at 1262.
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Circuit would not allow the broker to recover the deficit due from the
liquidation of the margin account since the broker also breached its duty. '1

After an exhaustive explanation of the intricacies of the Special Miscel-
laneous Account (SMA)' 5' involved in McCormick v. Esposito,1 the Fifth
Circuit went on to affirm the dismissal of the appellant's complaint for
damages against a broker-dealer. The plaintiff alleged that the broker
violated section 7 of the Exchange Act," Regulation T111 promulgated
thereunder by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System and
certain New York Stock Exchange rules'" by using the balance in that
SMA to satisfy the margin requirements.

The court held that the SMA could be used to meet the initial margin
requirements of Regulation T since under the provisions of the account the
broker can "pay out" the customer's money.'" In addition, the court, not-
ing that the appellants acquiesced to the status of the account and failed
to take corrective action as in Gordon,"10 held that there could be no
recovery for inadvertent violations of the New York Stock Exchange rules
involved.19

3. Statute of Limitations

In the companion cases of O'Connell v. Economic Research Analysts,
Inc."' and Hudak v. Economic Research Analysts, Inc."' the Fifth Circuit
announced that Florida's two year statute of limitations would be applied
in anti-fraud cases arising under the Exchange Act.1"4

The Fifth Circuit precluded the federal fraud claims against a broker-
dealer on the basis of the two-year statute of limitations period contained
in Florida's Blue Sky Law." 5 The court reasoned that since the anti-fraud

183. Id. The court also discussed the issue of finding a private right of action for violations
of New York Stock Exchange Rules 431 and 432 (margin and record keeping, respectively)
and opined that no cause of action could be found when the investor is aware of his margin
deficiency. See Pearlstein v. Scudder & German, 429 F.2d 1136 (2nd Cir. 1970), cert. denied,
401 U.S. 1013 (1970).

184. A Special Miscellaneous Account is, in effect, a bookkeeping device that enables a
customer to preserve his right to use cash proceeds derived from a securities sale to satisfy
his margin requirements without the necessity of opening a separate cash account.

185. 500 F.2d 620 (5th Cir. 1974), cert. denied, - U.S. - (1975).
186. 15 U.S.C. §78g (1970).
187. 12 C.F.R. §220.1 et. seq. (1974).
188. New York Stock Exchange Constitution and Rules, Rules 431 and 432 (March, 1973).
189. 500 F.2d at 626. Accord, Manevich v. F.I. duPont, 338 F.Supp. 1124 (S.D.N.Y.), aff'd

mem., 465 F.2d 1398 (2nd Cir. 1972).
190. 487 F.2d at 1260.
191. 500 F.2d at 628.
192. 499 F.2d 994 (5th Cir. 1974), cert. denied, - U.S. _ 95 S.Ct. 805 (1975).
193. 499 F.2d at 996.
194. 15 U.S.C. §78j(b) (1970); 17 C.F.R. §240.10b-5 (1974).
195. FLA. STAT. ANN. §517.21 (1974). In 1974, the Florida Legislature deleted the two-year

statute of limitations provision from the preceding code section. FiA. LAws ch. 74-382 §28
(1974).
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language contained in the Florida securities law was "the mirror image of
Rule 10b-5," the limitations period contained therein should apply to those
suits alleging violations of that rule.'" Since the limitations period was
exceeded, the federal claim was barred. " 7

The second aspect of these cases is the Fifth Circuit's affirmance of the
trial court's assertion of pendent jurisdiction. The lower court held that the
broker-dealer was liable for common law fraud when its R.R. made false
representations in the sales of securities and converted customers' funds
to his own use. The Fifth Circuit agreed that Florida's three-year statute
of limitations period for common law fraud applied to this claim." '

4. Reporting Provisions

In an unpublished opinion captioned S.E.C. v. I.M.C. International
Inc. " the Fifth Circuit affirmed the issuance of an injunction against the
company and its control person for their separate violations of the report-
ing provisions of the federal securities laws.2m The company was enjoined
from violating sections 13(a) 3 ' and 14(f) 2 of the Exchange Act when it
failed to timely file accurate financial reports with the Commission and the
reports required when its control person designated a new board of direc-
tors.

The individual was enjoined from violating sections 13(d)101 and 16(a)21'
of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations promulgated thereun-
der.210 Section 13(d) requires that any person2 "6 after acquiring 5% or more
of the beneficial ownership of a class of an issuer's outstanding equity
security disclose certain material information within 10 days of the acquis-
ition.2 0 7 Section 16(a) requires that any officer, director, or 10% shareholder

196. 499 F.2d at 999-1000. See Azalea Meats, Inc. v. Muscat, 386 F.2d5 (5th Cir. 1967).
197. 499 F.2d at 995-1000; See generally Raskin and Enyart, Which Statute of Limitations

in a 10b-5 Action?, 51 DEiNi. L.J. 301 (1974); Statutes of Limitation in 1~b-5 Actions, 39
U.M.K.C. L. REv. 283 (1971).

198. FLA. STAT. ANN. §95.11(5)(d) (1960). Editor's Note: In 1974, the Florida Legislature
changed the preceding code section so that actions founded on fraud are subject to a four-
year statute of limitations. This is now found in FLA. STAT. ANN. §95.11(3)(k) (1974 Cum.
Supp.). -

199. No. 74-1170 (5th Cir. November 27, 1974), aff'g, Civ. No. (N.D. Tex. January 18,
1973).

200. 15 U.S.C. §§78m(a), (d), §78n(a); §78p(a) (1970).
201. 15 U.S.C. §78m(a) (1970).
202. 15 U.S.C. §78n(f) (1970).
203. 15 U.S.C. §78m(d) (1970).
204. 15 U.S.C. §78p(a) (1970).
205. 17 C.F.R. §240.13d-1 et. seq. (1974); 17 C.F.R. §240.16a-1 et. seq. (1974).
206. 15 U.S.C. §78m(d)(3) (1970) includes in the definition of "person," a partnership,

syndicate or other group formed for the purpose of acquiring securities. Cf. GAF Corp. v.
Milstein, 453 F.2d 709 (2nd Cir. 1971), cert. denied, 406 U.S. 910 (1972), with Bath Indus. v.
Blot, 427 F.2d 97 (7th Cir. 1970).

207. See Schedule 13D, 17 C.F.R. §240.13d-101 (1974). This statement requires disclosure
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file a report disclosing his interest in the securities of the issuer at the time
of attaining such status. This person is also required to file a report
within ten days after the close of each calendar month whenever there is a
change in his ownership position.2"

In this case the control person acquired over 14% of the issuer's stock.
He caused a merger of the issuer into a company principally controlled by
his wife. He thereafter appointed an entirely new board of directors and
within the same six month period sold the securities he had acquired. At
no time did the control person file the reports required under sections 13(d)
and 16(a).

The trial court, in granting the injunction, observed that the individual's
conduct was willful and designed to conceal detrimental information about
the company and its management. It was found that this conduct deprived
the public of the information required to enable them to make informed
investment judgments about the investment merits of the company. ' The
Fifth Circuit concurred and affirmed the judgment.

IV. CONCLUSION

The two most significant opinions handed down by the Fifth Circuit
during the survey period appear to be Koscot and Bryan. Both of these
decisions constitute valuable precedents for the advancement of investor
protection in the securities law area. By the same token, the Fifth Circuit's
decisions in Bellah and McClure demonstrate that the federal securities
laws are not a panacea for every wrong alleged to have been committed in
a financial transaction. In all, the Fifth Circuit's securities law decisions
were sound and constitute a positive contribution to the development of
this most dynamic area of law.

of, among other things, the identity and background of the party filing, source of funds,
purpose of the transaction, and any plans the person has with respect to the securities of the
issuer.

208. This report is designated Form 3, 17 C.F.R. §249.103 (1974).
209. This report is designated Form 4, 17 C.F.R. §249.104 (1974).
210. The company is now in involuntary bankruptcy.

[Vol. 261328


